A GOOD FOUNDATION

Zac Poonen

Copyright - Zac Poonen (1990)

This book has been copyrighted to prevent misuse.

It should not be reprinted or translated without

written permission from the author.

Permission is however given for any part of this book

to be downloaded and printed

provided it is for FREE distribution,

provided NO ALTERATIONS are made,

provided the AUTHOR'S NAME AND ADDRESS are mentioned,

and provided this copyright notice is included

in each printout.

For further details, please contact:

Christian Fellowship Church

40, DaCosta Square,

Wheeler Road Extension,

Bangalore-560084,

India.

CONTENTS

- \* This Book And You
- 1. Repentance
- 2. Faith
- 3. Election and Justification
- 4. Discipleship
- 5. Baptism in water
- 6. Baptism in the Holy Spirit
- 7. Sanctification
- 8. God's Word and Prayer
- 9. Fellowship and the Church
- 10. The End of this Age

THIS BOOK AND YOU....

The gospel is the good news that man can now live as God originally intended him to.

The one who surrenders totally to the claims of Christ can live a life of constant triumph.

Yet many who have accepted Christ as their Saviour do not enter into this glorious life

that the gospel offers.

Why not? The reason very often is that a good foundation was not laid at the beginning of

their Christian life.

Our life after we are born again can be compared to a house being built. We all know that

the most important part of a house is its foundation.

If there is a crack on the third floor, the cause can usually be traced to a faulty foundation.

It is the same with our lives. Years after we have trusted in Christ, we can suffer the

consequences of a faulty foundation laid at the beginning.

The New Testament promises us a life of triumph over sin.

See God's promise in Romans 6:14: "Sin shall not be master over you, for you are not

under law, but under grace."

It also commands us to live a life of continual joy, and one totally free from anxiety. See

Philippians 4:4, 6 "Rejoice in the Lord always...... Be anxious for nothing....."

Remember that God commands only what He will enable us to do.

So His commands are in a sense promises of what He can give us grace to achieve! The

above commands are therefore a promise that God can enable us to live a life of perpetual

joy and one totally free from anxiety.

There are many more glorious promises like these in the New Testament. But the ones

we've mentioned will suffice to show that the gospel is good news indeed.

Yet the sad truth is that most Christians who claim to have accepted the gospel do not

live the type of life described in the above verses.

The purpose of this book is to enable you to lay a good foundation in your life, so that

God's full purpose for your life can be accomplished.

Read on then and let the Holy Spirit speak to your heart.

This could be the beginning of a new chapter in your life altogether....

CHAPTER ONE

REPENTANCE

Jesus said that the right way to enter His sheepfold (His kingdom) was through the door.

But He said that some would try to come in by climbing over the wall (Jn. 10:1).

The way that God has laid down for man to be saved is by repentance and faith in the

Lord Jesus Christ. That is the only way. God can never accept a man who tries to climb in

any other way.

John the Baptist who came to prepare the way of the Lord preached repentance. That was

the only way that the nation of Israel could be prepared to receive Jesus as their Saviour.

There is no other way for us either.

Repentance and Faith

Most of today's believers don't seem to have the depth or the dedication or the power that

the early Christians had.

What do you think is the reason for this?

The primary reason is that they haven't repented properly.

They have believed in Christ all right. But they have believed without repenting first.

And so their conversion has been shallow.

Just look at these words of a well-known hymn :

"The vilest offender who truly believes

That moment from Jesus a pardon receives."

Is that really true - that the vilest offender can receive a pardon merely by "truly

believing?"

Doesn't he need to repent first?

You may say that true faith involves repentance too. But unless that is explained to the

vilest offender, he can go away thinking that he is born again just because he believed.

And he can go away deceived.

The message Jesus Himself preached was : "Repent and believe in the gospel" (Mark

1:15). He commanded His apostles to preach the same message (Lk.

24:47). And that's

exactly what they did (Acts 20:21).

The Word of God is very clear on this. Repentance and faith cannot be separated if you

want to be well and truly converted. God has joined these two together. And what God

has joined together no man should separate.

Repentance and faith are actually the first two elements of the foundation of the Christian

life (Heb. 6:1). If you haven't repented properly, then your foundation is bound to be

faulty. And then, of course, the whole of your Christian life will be shaky.

The Bible says that "the fear of the Lord is the beginning (or the ABC) of wisdom" (Prov.

9:10). And if we really fear the Lord, we'll "turn away from sin " (Prov. 3:7).

So those who haven't repented and turned from sin, haven't learnt even the ABC of the

Christian life.

False and True Repentance

If you have repented, you must ensure that you have repented genuinely. For Satan has

his counterfeit repentance too, with which he deceives people.

Satan knows that most people live by just one commandment that says, "You shall not

get caught"! And so he teaches them ways and means to sin without getting caught by anyone.

Even a thief will feel sorry if he is caught. But that's not repentance.

We see some examples in the Bible of those whose repentance was false. When King Saul disobeyed God, he admitted to Samuel that he had sinned. But he didn't

want the people to know that. He still sought man's honour. He hadn't really repented. He

was just sorry that he was caught (1Sam. 15:24-30). That was the difference between him

and King David who openly acknowledged his sin when he fell (Psalm 51).

King Ahab was another like Saul. He felt really sorry for himself when Elijah warned

him that God was going to judge him. He even put sackcloth on himself and mourned for

his sins (1 Kings 21:27-29). But he didn't really repent. He was just afraid of  $\operatorname{God}$ 's

judgment.

Judas Iscariot's case is a clear example of false repentance. When he saw that Jesus had

been condemned to death he felt bad and said, "I have sinned " (Matt. 27:3-5). But he

made his confession to the priests - just like some do even today! He
didn't repent - even

though he may have felt sad about what he had done. If he had truly repented, he would

have gone to the Lord in brokenness and asked for forgiveness. But he didn't do that.

There's a lot that we can learn from these examples - as to what repentance is not!

True repentance is a "turning to God from idols" (1 Thess. 1:9).

Idols are not just those made of wood and stone found in heathen temples. There are

equally dangerous idols that people worship that don't look so ugly. These are the idols of

pleasure, comfort, money, one's reputation, wanting one's own way etc.,

All of us have worshipped these for many years. To repent means to stop worshipping

these idols, and to turn away from them to God.

True repentance will involve our whole personality - our mind, our emotions and our

will.

First of all, repentance means that we change our mind about sin and the world. We

realise that our sin has separated us from God. We also see that the whole way of life of

this world is anti-God. And we want to turn away from that  $\operatorname{\mathsf{God-}}\nolimits$  dishonouring way of

life.

Secondly, repentance involves our emotions. We feel sorrowful about the way we've

lived (2 Cor.7:10). We hate ourselves for our past actions; and more than that, we detest

the greater evil that we see within us that no one else can see (Ezekiel 36:31).

We weep and mourn that we have hurt God so much by the way we have lived. That was

the reaction of many great men in the Bible when they became aware of their sins. David

(Psalm 51), Job (Job 42:6) and Peter (Matt. 26:75) - all wept bitterly when they repented

of their sins.

Both Jesus and the apostles have encouraged us to weep and mourn for our sins (Matt.

5:4; James 4:9). That is the way back to God.

Finally, repentance involves our will. We have to yield our stubborn self-will - `wanting

our own way' - and make Jesus Lord of our lives. That means that we are willing to do

whatever God wants us to do from now on, whatever the cost and however humiliating it

may be.

The prodigal son came back home to his father as a broken, yielded young man who was

willing to do anything that his father told him to. That is true repentance (Lk. 15:11-24).

We don't have to confess to God every single sin that we've ever committed. It would be

impossible to remember all of them in any case. The prodigal son didn't do that. All that

he said was, "Father, I have sinned." And that's all we need to say too.

But remember that Judas Iscariot also said, "I have sinned." There was a world of

difference however, between his confession and the prodigal son's confession. God

doesn't listen only to the words we say. He senses the spirit behind the words, and deals

with us accordingly.

The Fruit of Repentance

John the Baptist told the Pharisees to bring forth fruit in keeping with repentance (Matt.

3:8). If we have truly repented, it will change our whole way of life. One of the first things that we should do, after we have repented is to make restitution for

the wrongs that we have done in our life.

We read of Zaccheus in the gospels, that he was convicted of his sins as soon as Jesus

entered his house (Lk. 19:1-10). Zaccheus was a man who loved money. But he

understood what repentance involved. He knew that if he was going to be a disciple of

Jesus he would have to make amends for all the wrongs that he had done in his life.

That meant a great loss of money to him, for he had cheated so many people. But he

decided to be wholehearted in his repentance. And so he told the Lord that he would give

away half his money to the poor and then give back four times what he had cheated  $% \left( 1\right) =\left( 1\right) +\left( 1\right) +$ 

others of.

It was only when Zaccheus said that he would make restitution, that Jesus said that

salvation had come to that home. A willingness to make restitution is one of the

evidences of true salvation (Lk. 19:1-10).

The wise man, in the parable that Jesus spoke, dug deep and laid his foundation on the

rock beneath the layers of sand (Lk. 6:48). The foolish man also built his house in the

same area. But he didn't dig deep enough. He laid his foundation superficially on the sand.

We could apply this parable to true and false repentance. Only when we take pains to

make a thorough restitution in our life do we dig deep.

When we come to Christ, it is good to take time right at the beginning, to sort out all

matters relating to our unconverted life that need to be settled. If we are superficial here,

and gloss over some matters, we'll find that our foundation remains weak and our house

collapses one day.

What Restitution Involves

What does restitution involve?

It means that if you have cheated the government of taxes etc., you must now repay those

taxes. Sometimes it may not be possible to repay the amount to the department

concerned. But where there is a will, there will always be a way - if we want to obey

God! We can buy Post Office stamps or railway tickets and destroy them, to ensure that

the money we owe to the government does indeed go back to it.

If you've cheated people, you should also apologise to them while making the repayment.

Tell them also how the change came in your life! If you find you don't have the courage

to do this all by yourself, take a brother along with you, while making the restitution.

If you are not able to settle all your debts at once, never mind. Do it in installments. But

make a beginning - even if it be with only five rupees! God accepted Zaccheus the day he

decided to pay back his debts - not after he had completed all his repayments!

If you have cheated someone and you don't know where he is living now, then you

should return the money to God - the original Owner of all money. That was the rule that

God laid down for the Israelites (Numbers 5:6-8).

We should in any case, never have any money with us that has been obtained unlawfully .

God can never bless that sort of money.

If we have hurt or injured someone, in some way that doesn't involve money, then we

should go and apologise to him and ask for his forgiveness.

I know of brothers who have saved money for months and then emptied out their bank

accounts in order to make restitution to the government for taxes and customs duties that

they had cheated on. And  $\operatorname{God}$  has blessed them with something better than a large bank

account!

I also know of others who have carefully calculated the fares for the times when they  $\$ 

traveled without purchasing tickets on buses and trains and who have paid the amounts

back. Those who are faithful in the small things are the ones who will do great things for God.

I also know of some who have gone to university authorities with their degree certificates

and acknowledged that they had cheated in their final examinations. They were ready to

sacrifice their degrees if necessary, in order to have a clear conscience. God has usually

given such believers favour in the eyes of the authorities, so that they have been

pardoned.

But it may not always work out like that. In your case, God may allow the university to

take away your certificate! But then that will be God's perfect will for you.

I know of one brother who wrote a letter of apology to someone from whom he had

stolen a small stamp many years earlier. A theft is a theft, however small the value of the

stolen article may be. It is in little matters that our faithfulness is tested.

I am not suggesting that you now torture yourself, trying to rake up from your memory

the little wrongs that you've done in your past life. No. You don't have to do that. God

will remind you of what needs to be settled; and you need to settle only what  $\operatorname{\mathsf{God}}$ 

reminds you of.

There will also be cases where you can do absolutely nothing, because the wrong done is

so complicated. In such cases, all you can do is express your sorrow to  $\operatorname{\mathsf{God}}$  and ask for

His mercy.

We shouldn't in any case, allow Satan to keep us feeling guilty and condemned forever,

just because we can't set a certain matter right. God understands our situation fully - and

He doesn't torture us. If you have a willing mind, God will accept whatever you are able

to do - even if that be nothing (2 Cor. 8:12).

Praise God that He is so merciful!

God will honour those who honour Him (1 Sam. 2:30). And one way that we honour Him

is by being faithful in the little things.

If we don't make restitution, we'll be dragging a chain with us, all through our life. God

will test us to see if we value a clear conscience more than our money, our honour, our

degrees and even our job.

Many fail the test. But, praise God, that there is a remnant, in every generation, of those

who love God more than anything on earth.

Forgiving Others

Repentance also includes forgiving others who have harmed us in any wav.

Jesus said, "If you do not forgive men, then your Father will not forgive your

transgressions" (Matt. 6:15).

He went on to say that we must forgive others from our heart, and not just superficially

(Matt. 18:35).

It is impossible to be forgiven by God if we don't forgive others wholeheartedly and

completely.

We may not be able to forget what others have done to us. But we can certainly refuse to

think about the evil they did, whenever we are tempted to do so.

Perhaps someone has harmed you so badly that you really find it difficult to forgive him

wholeheartedly. Ask God to help you to forgive; and you'll find that He is more than

willing to give you both the desire and the power to forgive anyone.

When we think of the millions of sins that God has forgiven us so freely, it shouldn't be

difficult for us to forgive others in the same way. It's when we don't forgive others that

Satan gets power over us.

"Forgive," says Paul, "so that no advantage be taken of us by Satan" (2Cor. 2:10,11).

A Changed Attitude Towards Satan

There's one more area where matters need to be settled - and that's the area of contact

with Satan and evil spirits.

If you have dabbled in astrology, idol worship, palm-reading, black magic etc., or if you

have been interested in rock-music and harmful drugs, you need to renounce these

contacts with Satan - even though some of these contacts may have been unconsciously

made.

The first thing you should do is destroy (not sell, but destroy) all idols, occult books and

amulets etc., that you may have (See Acts 19:19). Then you should pray saying, "Lord

Jesus, I renounce every contact that I have had with Satan, knowingly or unknowingly."

Then tell Satan directly, "I resist you Satan, in the Name of Jesus Christ my Lord and

Saviour. You can't touch me any longer, for I now belong to the Lord Jesus Christ."

James 4:7 says, "Submit to God. Resist the devil and he will flee from you." Thus Satan

won't have a hold on you any longer.

If we continue to walk with the Lord, He'll give us more and more light on different areas

of our life. It could be in the worldliness of our dress or speech or in the harshness of our

tone of voice, or in the way we are being defiled through our reading habits etc., Thus

we'll discover new areas constantly where we need to repent and be cleansed.

We should walk this way of constant repentance all our days.  ${\tt CHAPTER}\ {\tt TWO}$ 

FAITH

Repentance is the first part of the foundation of the Christian life. Faith is the second.

To have faith in God means to trust Him and to believe what He has said in His Word, in

spite of what our feelings may tell us or what other people may tell us. It's as simple as that.

Here are three facts concerning God: (1) He loves us infinitely; (2) He is absolutely wise;

and (3) He is Almighty.

Is it difficult to believe these facts? No. Well, then it shouldn't be difficult for us to trust

God with all our hearts.

When Eve listened to the voice of Satan in the garden of Eden, it was a failure of faith.

She didn't believe that God's commands were for her good. She disobeyed God because

she didn't have faith in His perfect love for her.

Faith to Receive God's Gifts

God has many wonderful things to give us. All His gifts are gifts of grace. But we need

faith to receive those gifts.

The Bible says we are saved "by grace through faith" (Eph. 2:8). Grace is God's Hand

reaching down to us loaded with the blessings of heaven. Faith is our hand reaching up

and taking those blessings from God's Hand.

God offers us the forgiveness of our sins first of all. If we have repented, then all we have

to do now is reach out our hand and take what God offers us freely. We don't have to

work for it or pay for it. It has already been paid for at Calvary. All we have to do now is

to say, "Thank You, Father" and take it. That's faith.

When we don't take what God offers, we are actually insulting Him. We're despising His

gifts. Perhaps we think that God is teasing us, the way some people tease children by

stretching out their hands with gifts and then pulling their hand back just when the

children reach out to take those gifts! But God isn't mean or evil, like such people. He is a

loving Father. He really longs to give us good gifts.

That's why the Bible says that "without faith it is impossible to please God" - whatever

else we may do (Heb. 11:6).

If we trust God, He will not only forgive our sins, He'll set us free from sin's power as

How do we get faith? There's only one way. The Bible says that "faith comes from

hearing, and hearing by the Word of Christ" (Rom. 10:17). In other words, as we allow

God to speak to us through His Word, we'll get faith. That's how our faith increases too.

Through God's Word, we know that Christ died for our sins and rose again; and that if we

repent and trust in Him we can immediately receive a full and free forgiveness for our

sins. The Holy Spirit then bears witness to our heart that this is true. Through this twofold  $% \left( 1\right) =\left( 1\right) +\left( 1$ 

witness of God's Word and the Holy Spirit we can be absolutely sure that God has

forgiven us and that we are indeed His children.

The Assurance of Faith

God wants us to have perfect assurance in our hearts that we are indeed His children. He

never wants us to be in doubt about that fact.

Satan will try his best to keep us in doubt. But we need never be in doubt, for God has

given us many promises in His Word to assure us.

Just look at these promises: Jesus said, "The one who comes to me I will certainly not

cast out .....Truly, truly I say to you, the one who believes has eternal life" (John 6: 37,47).

"As many as received Him (the Lord Jesus Christ), to them He gave the right to become

children of God" (John 1:12).

The Lord says, "I will be merciful to their iniquities, and I will remember their sins no  $\,$ 

more" (Heb. 8:12).

To put our faith in God's promises can be likened to our putting our feet on a strong

bridge while crossing a river. If the bridge is strong, it doesn't matter even if our feet are

weak. What is strong faith then? It is trusting in a strong God and in His promises.

Our feelings are often very deceptive. We should never trust them. There's a parable of

three men called Fact, Faith and Feeling who were walking one behind the other on a

narrow wall. Fact walked in front and Faith walked behind him and Feeling came along

at the rear. As long as Faith kept his eyes on Fact in front of him, everything went

smoothly. Feeling followed behind him perfectly. But as soon as Faith turned around to

see how Feeling was coming along, he tumbled and fell to his death; and Feeling fell to

his death too. Fact, however kept walking along the wall undisturbed! The lesson in the parable is obvious. God's Word consists of unchangeable facts. If our

faith looks steadfastly at God's Word alone, there is no danger of our ever falling; and

feelings will follow in due course. But if we begin to look at our feelings, then we can

easily tumble and fall into discouragement and condemnation.

The Confession of Faith

The Bible says that we must confess what we believe. "If you confess with your mouth

Jesus as Lord, and believe in your heart that God raised Him from the dead, you shall be

saved; for with the heart man believes, resulting in righteousness, and with the mouth he

confesses, resulting in salvation" (Rom. 10: 9,10).

The confession of our mouth is important. To confess God's Word means to say the same

thing that God says. That shouldn't be difficult for it just means saying "Amen" ("It shall

be so" ) to God's promises.

The first time the word `believe' is used in Scripture is in Genesis chapter 15. There we

read that God told Abram, when he was childless, that he would have as many children as  $\,$ 

the stars in the sky. And it says that "Abram believed the LORD" (v.6). The Hebrew

word for "believe" there, is "aman" from which we get the word "Amen", meaning "It

shall be so." So all that Abram did was to say "Amen" to God's promise.

That is what true faith is - saying "Amen" to God.

We read later that Abram called himself by the new name that God gave him - Abraham

(which meant "the father of a multitude"). Sarah, his wife was still childless. But that

didn't make any difference to Abraham. He still called himself the father of a multitude,

because he believed what God had said (Gen. 17:5).

That is the confession of faith - confessing what God has said, even when we haven't seen

the fulfillment of the promise.

That's all that God asks us to do - to say the same thing that He has said in His Word.

When we confess God's promises, we express our faith in God; and then God is able to

work on our behalf.

It's by the "word of our testimony" that we overcome Satan (Rev.

12:11). Satan, the

accuser, is always trying to rob us of the assurance of our salvation and of our boldness

before God. We must quote the promises of God directly to Satan if we want to overcome

him.

Jesus Himself overcame Satan by quoting Scripture to him, saying "It is written...It is

written...It is written" (Matt. 4:1-11).

If we doubt God's Word, we make God a liar. But when we confess God's Word to Satan,

we take sides with God and His Word against Satan and his lies. In that way we also tell

Satan that we believe that what God has said is true, in spite of what our circumstances

and our feelings may be telling us.

This is the confession of faith.

CHAPTER THREE

ELECTION AND JUSTIFICATION

God's election of His children and His justifying them are two glorious truths that the

New Testament teaches us.

Election

The Bible says that God elected us to be  $\operatorname{His}$  children according to  $\operatorname{his}$  foreknowledge (1

Pet. 1:1,2). This means that He knew from all eternity past those who were going to be

His children.

The Bible also says that God chose us in Christ "before the foundation of the world"

(Eph. 1:4). Long before Adam was even created, God knew each of us by name as His

children, and our names were there in "the book of life" (Rev. 13:8). These are facts that should give us tremendous security.

The Bible says that the foundation of God on which we stand has a twofold seal. On the

God-ward side, it reads, "The Lord knows those who are His." On the man-ward side, it

reads, "Let everyone who names the name of the Lord abstain from wickedness" (2 Tim.

2:19).

God knew  $\operatorname{His}$  children from before the foundation of the world. But  $\operatorname{WE}$  know that we

are His children only when we actually repent and turn to Him. Our finite minds cannot

grasp how God elects His children and yet gives man freedom to choose Him or not.

These are like two parallel lines that don't seem to meet in our understanding. But as the

mathematical definition of parallel lines is, they meet at infinity - in the infinite mind of God.

Someone has expressed it like this: As you walked along the road of life, you found an

open door one day, with these words written over it, "Whoever repents and believes in

Christ may enter in here and obtain eternal life." You entered in. On looking back, you

saw written over the very door through which you had just entered, the words "You were

chosen by God in Christ, before the foundation of the world."
Justification

Forgiveness of our sins takes away the guilt of the past. But that doesn't make us

perfectly holy. And so, we still can't stand before a perfectly holy God. And so God had

to do something more for us.

He had to justify us!

Justification means that God has put the perfect righteousness of Christ to our credit. The

result is that our standing before God is now as perfect as Christ's! That's an astounding

fact! And its true! It's like millions of rupees being put into a bank account in the name of

a beggar - money that he didn't earn or deserve, but that has been given to him as a free gift.

To be justified is to be accepted by God just as if we had never sinned in our whole life

and just as if we were perfectly righteous in our life at present. God's Word says, "Therefore being justified by faith, we have obtained our introduction

by faith into this grace in which we stand" (Rom. 5:2). Now we can come boldly into

God's presence without any fear or hesitation at any time. God Himself has opened the

way for that.

In the garden of Eden, as soon as Adam and Eve sinned, they felt guilty and ashamed and

covered themselves with fig-leaves. God took away their fig-leaves, killed an animal and

clothed them with its skin.

Those fig-leaves are a picture of our own good works. Like fig-leaves, our good works

cannot cover our nakedness before God; for the Bible says that even our best works are

like filthy rags in God's sight (Isa. 64:6).

That slain animal was a picture of Christ put to death for our sins. The skin was a picture

of the perfect righteousness of Christ given to cover us (Gen. 3:7,21).

Justification is a free gift of God. No man can be justified before God on the basis of his

own works. One extreme of error therefore is to say, "Let us seek to be righteous in order

to be justified by God."

There is however an opposite extreme of error too. And that is to say, "If we are elected

and justified, then it doesn't matter even if we sin now." Those who take sin lightly,

because they think that God has elected and justified them, would thereby prove that they

are not among God's elect at all. (Compare Rom.4:5 with James 2:24). Once we are sure that we have been elected and justified, Satan's accusations will lose

their effect on us. For if "God is for us, who can be against us?" (Rom. 8:31). Never again

in our life need we feel that we are condemned or rejected by God. "Who will bring a charge against God's elect? God is the One Who justifies" (Romans

8:33). Hallelujah!

Such is the good news of the gospel! It is not surprising then that Satan has kept many

believers from knowing that they have been elected and justified by God.

CHAPTER FOUR

DISCIPLESHIP

When Jesus told His apostles to go into every nation and to make disciples, they had no

doubt in their minds as to what He meant. (Matt. 28:19). For He had already explained

what it meant to be His disciple.

Luke 14: 25-35 reveals most clearly the three conditions of discipleship. There Jesus

speaks about a man who having laid a foundation for a tower, couldn't complete it,

because he was unable to pay the cost of construction (v. 28-30). That proves that it does

cost something to be a disciple. Jesus told us to sit down first and count that cost before

even starting to build.

God doesn't want us to wait for many years after our sins are forgiven, before

understanding what discipleship really means. Jesus told people about the cost of

discipleship as soon as they came to Him.

He said that a believer who was unwilling to be a disciple was as useless to God as salt

that had lost its savour (Lk. 14:35).

`Hating' our Relatives

The first condition of discipleship is that we must cut off the natural, inordinate love that

we have for our relatives.

Jesus said "If anyone comes to Me, and does not hate his own father and mother and wife

and children and brothers and sisters, yes and even his own life, he cannot be My

disciple" (Lk. 14:26).

Those are strong words. What does it mean to `hate'? To hate is the same as to kill (1 Jn.

3:15). What we are asked to put to death here is the natural affection that we have for our

relatives.

Does that mean that we are not to love them? No. It certainly doesn't mean that. When we

give up our human affection for them, God will replace it with Divine love. Our love for

our relatives will then be pure - in the sense that God will always be first in our

affections, and not our relatives.

Many don't obey God because they are afraid to offend their father, mother or wife etc.,

The Lord demands first place in our life. And if we don't give Him that place, we can't be

His disciples at all.

Look at Jesus' own example. Although He loved His widowed mother, yet He never

allowed her to influence Him away from the perfect will of His Father, even in small

matters. We see an example of this at the marriage at Cana where Jesus refused to act on

His mother's prompting (Jn. 2:4).

Jesus also taught us how to `hate' our brothers. When Peter tried to turn  $\operatorname{\text{\rm Him}}$  away from

going to the cross, He turned around and rebuked him with some of the sharpest words  $% \left( 1\right) =\left( 1\right) +\left( 1\right$ 

that He ever uttered. He said, "Get behind Me, Satan! You are a stumbling-block to Me "

(Matt. 16:23). Peter had made his suggestion with a lot of human love. But Jesus rebuked

him, because what he had suggested was contrary to the Father's will. The Father was always supreme in Jesus' affections. He expects us to have the same

attitude too. After His resurrection He asked Peter whether he loved Him more than

everything else on earth (Jn. 21:15-17). Only those who love the Lord supremely are

given responsibilities in His church.

The leader of the Ephesian church was in danger of being rejected because he had lost his

initial devotion for the Lord (Rev. 2:1-5).

If we can say, like the psalmist, "Whom have I in heaven, Lord, but Thee? And besides

Thee I desire nothing on earth," then we have truly fulfilled the first condition of

discipleship (Psa. 73:25).

The love that Jesus demands from us is not the emotional, sentimental, human affection

that expresses itself in singing stirring songs of devotion to Him. No. If we love Him,

we'll obey Him (Jn. 14:21).

Hating our own Life

The second condition of discipleship is that we must hate our own self-life. Jesus said, "If

anyone comes to Me and does not hate his own life, he cannot be My disciple " (Lk.  $\,$ 

14:26).

He amplified that further by saying, "Whoever does not carry his own cross and come

after Me cannot be My disciple "(Lk. 14:27).

This is one of the least understood of all of Jesus' teachings.

He said that a disciple would have to "deny himself and take up his cross daily " (Lk.  $\,$ 

9:23). More important than reading our Bible or praying daily, we have to deny ourselves

and take up our cross daily. To deny our Self is the same as to hate our own life - the life

that we have inherited from Adam. To take up the cross is to put that Self-life to death.

We have to hate that life first, before we can slay it.

Our self-life is the main enemy of the life of Christ. The Bible calls this `the flesh'. The

flesh is a store-house of evil lusts within us that tempts us to seek our own gain, our own

honour, our own pleasure, our own way etc.,

If we are honest, we'll have to admit that even our best actions are corrupted by evil

motives that arise from our corrupt lusts. Unless we hate this flesh, we will never be able

to follow the Lord.

This is why Jesus spoke so much about hating (or losing) our life. In fact, this phrase is repeated six times in the gospels (Mt. 10:39; 16:25; Mk. 8:35; Lk.

9:24; 14:26; Jn. 12:25). This is the one saying of our Lord that is repeated most often in

the gospels. Yet it is the least preached about and the least understood!

To hate your own life is to give up seeking your own rights and privileges, to stop

seeking your own reputation, to give up your ambitions and interests, and to stop seeking

your own way etc., You can be a disciple of Jesus, only if you are willing to go this way.

Giving Up All Our Possessions

The third condition of discipleship is that we must give up all our own possessions. Jesus

said, "No one of you can be My disciple who does not give up all his own possessions"

(Lk. 14:33).

Our possessions are what we possess as our own. To give them all up means that we no

longer consider anything as our own.

We see an illustration of this in the life of Abraham. Isaac was his own son - his

possession. One day God asked him to offer Isaac as a sacrifice. And Abraham laid Isaac

on the altar and was ready to slay him. But God intervened and told him that the sacrifice

was not necessary, because he had proved his willingness to obey (Gen.22). After that,

Abraham recognised that even though he had Isaac in his house, he no longer possessed

him as his own. Isaac now belonged to God.

This is what it means to give up all our possessions. All that we have must be laid on the

altar and given up to God.

God may allow us to use some of those things. But we can't think of them as our own any

more. Even if we are living in our own house, we must think of the house as God's; and

that He has allowed us to stay in it rent-free ! This is true discipleship.

Have we done that with all our possessions? Our possessions include our bank-account,

property, job, qualifications, gifts and talents, wife and children and everything else that

we value on this earth. We have to lay them all on the altar if we want to be true disciples.

God wants us to love Him with all our heart. That's the meaning of `the pure heart'

mentioned in Matthew 5:8. It's not enough to have a clean conscience. A clean

conscience only means that we have given up sin. A pure heart is one that has given up

everything!

And so we see that true discipleship involves a radical change of attitude towards: (a) our

relatives and loved ones; (b) our self-life; and (c) our possessions. Unless we face these

issues squarely right at the beginning of our Christian life, it will be impossible to lay a

good foundation.

CHAPTER FIVE

BAPTISM IN WATER

One of the last things Jesus commanded  $\operatorname{His}$  disciples before ascending up to heaven was

to: (i) Go and make disciples; (ii) baptize them in the Name of the Father, Son and Holy

Spirit; and (iii) teach them to obey everything that He had commanded. The order is

important here. Only those who were willing to become disciples were to be baptized. No

one else.

When babies were brought to Jesus, He laid His hands on their heads and blessed them

(See Mark 10:13-16). However, when repentant adults came to Him, He baptized them

through His disciples (See Jn. 4:1,2).

But today what do we see in many `churches'? Quite the opposite. Babies are baptized;

and hands are laid on the heads of the adults (`confirmation')! This is the exact opposite

of what Jesus did.

On the day of Pentecost, when many were convicted of their sin, Peter told them to

"repent and be baptized." The record goes on to say that "those who received his word

were baptized " (Acts 2:38,41).

It is clear that only those who were capable of intelligently receiving God's Word and of

repentance were baptized. And that's how it was in every single instance recorded in the

`Acts of the Apostles'.

What Baptism Means

Romans 6:1-7 clearly explains the meaning of baptism. There we are told that our old

man was crucified with Christ and that in baptism we are buried with Christ into death.

The old man is the mind that we had in our unconverted days that wanted to sin. That has

been crucified with Christ.

We don't have to understand this first, before we live in the reality of it. We can just

believe what God says. If God's Word says that our old man was crucified with Christ,

then we believe it, just as surely as we believe God's Word when it says that Christ

Himself was crucified on Calvary's hill. Both these truths are accepted by faith.

The old man and the flesh are not the same. The flesh is that storehouse of evil lusts

within us, that opposes the will of God. We all have to carry this with us until our dying

day. We could compare the flesh to a gang of robbers seeking to enter our house. The old

man is like an unfaithful servant inside our house who constantly opened the door for the

robbers to enter. It is the unfaithful servant who has now been killed. The robbers

however are hale and hearty! But now we have a new servant, the new man, who seeks to

keep the door shut, against these robbers.

In baptism, we testify to the death and burial of the old man (the desire to  $\sin$ ), and to

being raised up with Christ so that we might henceforth "walk in newness of life" (Rom. 6:4).

The flood in Noah's day is a type of baptism too (1 Peter 3:20,21). The whole world was

destroyed by God through that flood. Noah went through it in the ark and came out of it

into a brand new world. The old world and everything in it were all buried under the

flood. This is what we testify to in baptism as well - that our old relationship with the

world (and that includes worldly fashions and worldly friends etc.,) has all now been cut

off and that we are now coming out of the water into a brand new world.

The Mode of Baptism

We now come to the question : HOW should we be baptized?

The word `baptism' is not an English word. The New Testament was originally written in

Greek; and the word `baptism' is derived from the Greek word `bapto', which means `to

cover wholly with a fluid' or `to immerse'. And this is exactly what baptism meant to the

early apostles - an immersion in water. Sprinkling water on someone's head is certainly

not baptism.

When Philip baptized the Ethiopian eunuch, it is written that "they both went down into

the water and.... came up out of the water" (Acts 8:38,39).

At Jesus' baptism too, we read similar words - that He came up out of the water, after

being baptized (Mark 1:10).

In the New Testament, baptism was always done by immersion. Since baptism is a burial,

it is obvious that only immersion can typify that accurately. For, after all, we don't bury

people by sprinkling sand on their heads, but by putting them under the ground

completely!

This also makes it clear that only those in whom the old man is dead qualify for baptism -

those who do not want to sin any more. For after all, only dead people can be buried! It's

a crime to bury a man who is not dead!

Baptism in the Three-fold Name

Jesus commanded us to baptize "in the Name of the Father, Son and the Holy Spirit "

(Matt. 28:20). The Name is singular because God is One. But Jesus revealed that

although God is One, He exists in Three Persons, Who are distinct from each other.

It wasn't the Father who died for our sins, nor was it the Holy Spirit. It was the Son.

When Jesus ascended up to heaven, He sat on the right hand of the Father, not the right

hand of the Holy Spirit. Likewise, the One He sent to His disciples to be their Helper was

the Holy Spirit, not the Father. All this may sound elementary. But it is essential that we

don't confuse the three Persons in the Godhead and their unique ministries in our

redemption.

In the Acts of the Apostles, we read again and again that the apostles baptized people in

the Name of Jesus Christ (Acts 2:38 etc.,). How does this fit in with Jesus' command in

Matthew 28:20?

When two apparently contradictory statements are found in the Scriptures, we'll find on a

closer study that both statements are true.

In order to make plain that the Father, Son and Holy Spirit are not a heathen trinity, the

apostles identified the Son as Jesus Christ. So they baptized people in the name of "the

Father, the Son the Lord Jesus Christ and the Holy Spirit." This was called baptism in the

Name of Jesus Christ.

The Obedience of Faith

Baptism should be the first step of obedience in the life of a disciple, leading on to a

lifetime of obedience - and this obedience must be the obedience of faith and not the

obedience of reason.

If Jesus had leaned upon His own reason, He would never have gone to John the Baptist

for baptism. For His reason would have given Him many arguments against being

baptized - especially since He had never sinned. John himself could not understand why

Jesus needed to be baptized. But Jesus laid aside the arguments of reason and simply

obeyed the voice of the Holy Spirit (Matt. 3:15).

"Trust in the Lord with all your heart and do not lean on your own understanding," says

the Word (Prov. 3:5). Reason is the Number One enemy of faith - because human reason

cannot grasp spiritual truths.

When we get baptized, the last part of our body to go under the water is the upper part of

our head. That is symbolic! The authority of our reason is the part of us that is most

difficult to put to death! The children of Adam live by what their reason tells them. In

baptism, we testify that we have died to that way of life (of leaning on our own reason)

and now live by faith in every word that proceeds from the mouth of  $\operatorname{God}$  (Matt. 4:4;

Rom. 1:17).

Baptism is slighted by some Christians as a trivial matter. Naaman initially despised

Elisha's command to go and dip himself seven times in the River Jordan to be healed of

his leprosy. But it was when he obeyed that simple command that he was healed (2 Kings

5:10-14). It is in little things that God tests our obedience.

Obedience to God must never be delayed. If your old man has indeed died, then he must

be buried straight-away. It's a crime not to bury a man who is dead! "Why do you delay

then? Arise and be baptized " (Acts 22:16).

CHAPTER SIX

BAPTISM IN THE HOLY SPIRIT

There are two needs that we all have. The first relates to the past - the forgiveness of our

sins. The second relates to the future - enablement to live a life that pleases  $\operatorname{God}$ . Our first

need is taken care of by the death of Christ. To meet the second, God gives us the power

of His Holy Spirit.

Power for Life and for Service

We could never have met that first need by ourselves. God had to meet it. It's likewise

with the second. We cannot live a life that pleases God or that fulfills all His will, in our

own strength. Some are wise enough to acknowledge this right at the beginning of their

Christian life and so they seek for God's power straight-away. Others discover it the hard

way - by trying and failing repeatedly for many years and then turning to God for His

power.

Unfortunately there are still others who after falling and failing repeatedly, finally resign

themselves to a life of defeat, believing that it is impossible to live victoriously in this

life.

This also applies to our serving the Lord and being a witness for Him. Most believers

realise, immediately after their conversion, that they should be witnesses for the Lord.

But they often find themselves tongue-tied and powerless. Some accept this as an

unfortunate trait of their personality, and give up all hope of ever becoming powerful

witnesses for Christ.

Others realise that God has promised them the power of the Holy Spirit. And so they seek

God for this power and receive it. And they are filled with boldness and endued with

supernatural gifts to be fiery, unashamed and effective witnesses for Christ.

It is one thing to be born of the Spirit. That's how we become children of God. But it's

quite another thing to be baptized (immersed) in the Holy Spirit. That's how we become

empowered to be what God wants us to be and to do what God wants us to do.

Our New-Covenant Birthright

Under the old covenant, the Holy Spirit came only upon certain people, to enable them to

fulfil a specific task for God. Under the new covenant, however, the Holy Spirit can be

received by all. He has come to show us the glory of Jesus and to transform us into His

likeness.

John the Baptist pointed to two ministries that Jesus would fulfil - one was to take away

sins and the other was to baptize people in the Holy Spirit (Jn.

1:29,33). We need to

experience both of these.

The first promise in the New Testament is: "He will save His people from their sins"

(Matt. 1:21). The second promise in the New Testament is: "He will baptize you with the

Holy Spirit" (Matt. 3:11).

It's significant that the New Testament opens with these two promises. This was the

beginning of a new era in God's dealings with man - the new covenant. This is then our

double birthright as children of God - to be saved from our sins and to be baptized in the

Holy Spirit. And God certainly wants to give us our full birthright - not just half of it.

The first five books of the New Testament each begin with the promise of the baptism in

the Holy Spirit (Matt. 3:11; Mk. 1:8; Lk. 3:16; Jn. 1:33; Acts 1:5). Yet so many

Christians have neglected to claim this for themselves.

Rivers of Living Water

The Holy Spirit is pictured in the New Testament as a river flowing from the throne of

God and falling to earth (Rev. 22:1; Acts 2:33). To be baptised in the Holy Spirit is to be

immersed under this waterfall. Jesus said that all those who thirsted could come to Him

and receive the Holy Spirit so that rivers of living water could flow out from their

innermost being (Jn. 7:37).

The experience of the average believer, however, is more akin to the hand-pump - a life

of struggling and pumping up a few drops of blessing from a dry heart. Yet it need not be

like that. If our dryness would only drive us to the Lord, things could be different. To

have rivers of blessing flowing out from us to all who come in touch with us is the will of

God for our lives.

The first step towards this is to acknowledge our need. Many believers are caught up in

foolish arguments about words. But it is power that we need, not correct terminology.

What is the use having our terminology right, if we are as dry as a bone? It's far better to

be honest and to come to God, confessing that rivers of blessing are not flowing out

through us. Having taken that first step, we can then trust  $\ensuremath{\mathsf{God}}$  to grant us what we ask

for.

All we need in order to be baptized in the Holy Spirit are thirst (an intense desire, born

out of a great longing to glorify  $\operatorname{God}$ ) and faith (the absolute confidence that  $\operatorname{God}$  will

give us what He has promised). Let us ask then, with thirst and with faith, for this power,

and God will not deny us our request.

The Endowment of Power

The first apostles had forsaken everything to follow Jesus. But they still had to wait until

they were baptized in the Holy Spirit before they could go out and fulfil their Godordained ministry.

Jesus Himself needed to be anointed with the Holy Spirit and power before He could

begin His public ministry (Acts 10:38). If even He needed this anointing, how much more

we need it.

Jesus told His apostles to wait in Jerusalem until they were `clothed with power' (Lk.

24:49). And just before He ascended up to heaven, He told them again that when the

Holy Spirit came upon them they would `receive power' (Acts 1:8). On the day of

Pentecost, the Holy Spirit was poured out on them. And those cowardly men were

immediately transformed into bold, fiery witnesses for the Lord (Acts 2:1-4). What they

received was exactly what Jesus had told them that they would receive - power.

What we need in order to live the Christian life is not just a doctrine but the power of

God in our life. The baptism in the Holy Spirit gives us power for godliness as well as

power for service.

The Variety of the Spirit's Working

The Holy Spirit is likened to the wind in the Scriptures; and the wind blows in different

ways at different times. "So is everyone who is born of the Spirit", Jesus said (Jn. 3:8).

Each believer's experience will therefore be different in the external details of being

baptised in the Holy Spirit. The inner endowment with power however, is what really matters.

God gives us `gifts of power' through the Spirit so that we can serve Him effectively in

building up the church as the body of Christ. He is the One however Who determines

which gift each of us should have.

Prophecy (the ability to preach powerfully to challenge, encourage and comfort) is the

most useful of these gifts (1 Cor. 14:1-5). There are also gifts of serving, teaching,

healing, exhorting, giving money, leadership, etc., (Rom. 12:6-8; 1 Cor. 12:8-10). The

ability to speak in unknown languages (`the gift of tongues') is another gift that  ${\tt God}$ 

gives, to enable us to pray and praise Him, without the limitations of our mind and our

mother-tongue.

If you have not been baptised in the Spirit, seek God and claim your birthright. Ask Him

also to give you an assurance of this. "If you being evil know how to give good gifts to

your children, how much more shall your heavenly Father give the Holy Spirit to those

who ask him....You do not have because you do not ask" (Lk.11:13; James 4:2).

Let us then cry out to God with all our hearts, and say like Jacob said to God at Peniel, "I

will not let You go until You bless Me" (Gen. 32:26).

There is no partiality with God. What He has done for others He will do for you. Even

today, He is a rewarder of those who diligently seek  $\operatorname{Him}$  (Heb. 11:6). He is more than

eager to give the Holy Spirit in His fullness to all who desire to glorify Him.

CHAPTER SEVEN

SANCTIFICATION

The twofold message of the gospel is summed up in the words of Jesus to the woman

caught in sin:

(i) I do not condemn you; and (ii) Do not sin any more. (Jn. 8:11). Justification is the starting line of the Christian race and sanctification is the track on

which the race is run. The word `sanctify' means to be set apart. And so sanctification is

the process of being set apart increasingly from sin, the world and our own self-life.

The whole purpose of our coming to Christ is in order that we might be sanctified - just

as the whole purpose of an athlete coming to the starting line of a race is to take part in

the race. It's pointless an athlete joining others at the starting line if he doesn't intend

taking part in the race itself!

God's Purpose For Us

Most of us came to Christ at first with some selfish motive - to get some benefit for

ourselves - perhaps healing, or deliverance from hellfire. But God still received us, in

spite of that selfish motive. The father of the prodigal son loved him so much, that he

welcomed him back, even though the son had come home only to fill his stomach. That's

how good God is!

But it would be really sad if we continued in the Christian life, only because we wanted

to go to heaven. As we understand more of God's purpose for our lives, we should long to

fulfil that totally. Paul's prayer for the Christians at Ephesus was that they would have the

eyes of their heart opened to see `the hope of His calling' (Eph. 1:18).

Romans 8:29,30 tells us what the hope of His calling is. "Whom God foreknew, He also

predestined to become conformed to the image of His Son, that He might be the firstborn

among many brethren."

God's purpose is that we might be transformed into the likeness of Jesus. That is what

sanctification is all about - to become like Jesus increasingly. This is the Christian race

that we are exhorted to run, fixing our eyes on Jesus Who has run the same race ahead of

us (Heb. 12:1,2).

Finishing With Sin

The first step in this race is to stop sinning consciously. Under the Law, there was no

exhortation to stop sinning. But under the new covenant, all the apostles are agreed that

the twofold message of the gospel is exactly as Jesus put it: freedom from condemnation  $\ \ \,$ 

and ceasing from sin.

Paul says, "Stop sinning" (1 Cor. 15:34). John says, "I am writing these things to you that

you may not sin" (1 Jn. 2:1). Peter also exhorts us to `cease from sin' (1 Pet. 4:1).

After explaining justification by faith in Romans 5, Paul asks this question, "What shall

we say then? Are we to continue in sin that grace may increase?" (Rom. 6:1). And again

(with greater force this time), "What then? Shall we sin even once?" (Rom. 6:15 -Literal).

The answer in both cases is a resounding `No'. We should seek not to sin even once, any more.

Does that sound like a heavy, burdensome message? It can be burdensome only to those

who want to keep on sinning! But it's a joyful message of liberation to those who are sick

and tired of sin's captivity. Any prisoner would be delighted if he heard a message that he

could be free. That wouldn't sound burdensome to him, would it? Jesus was anointed to proclaim "release to the captives (of sin) and to set free those who

are trodden down (by Satan)" (Lk. 4:18).

The glorious new-covenant promise is : " $\sin$  shall not be master over you, for you are not

under law (the old covenant), but under grace (the new covenant established by Jesus)"

(Rom. 6:14). The first step to victory is to believe that such a life is possible for you.

Temptation and Sin

There is a difference between being tempted and sinning. The Bible says, "Each one is

tempted when he is enticed by his own lust. Then when lust has conceived, it gives birth

to sin" (Jas.1:14,15). Sin is not born in our heart, until the lust in our flesh has been

allowed to conceive. When a lust flashes a suggestion into our mind, we are tempted. If

our mind agrees with that temptation, then a conception takes place and sin is born.

To be tempted doesn't make us evil. Even Jesus Himself was tempted. But He never

sinned even once in any way, and so He was totally pure.

The Scripture says that Jesus was "made like His brethren in all things" and "tempted in

ALL THINGS as we are" (Heb. 2:17; 4:15). He was tempted exactly like us, yet He never sinned.

That may not sound very wonderful to some of us, because we may feel that Jesus, being

God, could naturally overcome sin easily. But remember, He had "emptied Himself" of

the prerogatives of equality with God, when He came to earth (Phil. 2:6,7). Although He

was God, yet while He lived on earth as a man, He had access only to the same power of

the Holy Spirit that He offers us today. That's why we are told to run the race, "fixing our

eyes on Jesus." In our "striving against sin" today, we can look at His example and be

encouraged (Heb. 12:2-4). That's because He overcame each temptation that we face, as a

Man too. Thus He has become a Forerunner and an Example for us to follow (Heb. 6:20).

This is "the secret of godliness....- Christ came in the flesh ..... and was declared

righteous in the spirit" (1 Tim. 3:16). Although He had our flesh, He kept His spirit pure

throughout His life.

This is what gives us hope that we too can overcome as He overcame. For He has

"inaugurated a new and living way through the flesh" for us, in which we can follow  $\operatorname{\text{Him}}$ 

(Heb. 10:20). This is the way of sanctification.

The Old Man and The New Man

We have already seen how the old man was like an unfaithful servant who allowed the

thieves to enter the home. That old man however has been crucified, put off and buried.

There is a new man now within us, who says, "Behold I have come to do Thy will,  ${\tt O}$ 

God" (Heb. 10:7).

Yet we know that it's possible for a disciple of Jesus to sin. But there is a difference

between a disciple sinning and an unbeliever sinning, just as there is a difference between

a cat falling into dirty water and a pig choosing to jump into the dirty water! The cat hates

the dirty water, but may fall into it accidentally. The pig, however, loves it. It's all a

question of nature. The disciple of Jesus has a new nature that loves purity and hates sin.

The old man wants to sin. The new man never wants to sin. But if the new man is not

strong enough, he may not be able to keep the door of his heart shut against the lusts of

the flesh. That's not because he wants those lusts. No. But because he is not strong

enough to resist them. This may be, because he has not fed himself sufficiently on the

Word of God, or because he has not strengthened himself through prayer.

So, there's a difference between committing sin and falling into sin. It's important to

know this difference; for we can then avoid a lot of unnecessary feelings of

condemnation in our heart.

The Bible says that "the one who practises sin (that is, one who keeps on committing sin

deliberately) is of the devil" (1 Jn. 3:8). On the other hand, he writes to believers saying,

"If anyone sins (that is, if one falls into sin accidentally), we have an Advocate with the

Father, Jesus Christ the righteous; and He is the propitiation for our sins" (1 Jn. 2:1,2).

Conscious and Unconscious Sin

There is also a difference between falling into sin and having sin. To have sin is to have

unconscious sin in our personality -  $\sin$  that we ourselves are unaware of, even though

others who are more mature than us may be able to notice it in us. But such unconscious

sin need never make us feel guilty. For God's Word says, "sin is not imputed when there

is no law" (Rom. 5:13). (This also means that God does not impute  $\sin$  to us when there is

no awareness of sin in our conscious mind).

We shall have unconscious sin in us, until our dying day - to a lesser and lesser degree,

however, if we walk in the light. The Bible says, "If we say that we have no sin, we are

deceiving ourselves," (1 Jn. 1:8). One who says that he has no sin is actually claiming

that he has already become perfect like Christ. But God's Word says that we shall "be like

 $\operatorname{\text{Him}}$ ", only when  $\operatorname{\text{He}}$  returns - not before that (1  $\operatorname{Jn.}$  3:2). Those who claim to be totally

sanctified and perfect already are therefore only deceiving themselves.

Unconscious sin however needs to be cleansed; and "the blood of Jesus Christ cleanses us

from all (unconscious)  $\sin$  too, as long as we walk in the light of God (1 Jn. 1:7). So we

can stand boldly now, in the presence of an infinitely Holy God, without any fear.

Such is the power of the blood of Christ to justify us. Hallelujah! Mercy and Grace

We are told to come boldly "to the throne of grace, that we may receive mercy, and find  $\ensuremath{\mathsf{T}}$ 

grace to help in time of need" (Heb. 4:16). Mercy and grace are not the same. Mercy

refers to the forgiveness of our sins. That relates to our past. But we also need grace — for

our time of need, in the future.

Our time of need is when we are tempted, when we are about to fall - just like Peter,

when he was about to sink in the sea of Galilee (Matt. 14:30). That's when we should cry

out for grace; and just as Jesus stretched out His hand immediately to hold Peter, we'll

find that we get grace too, so that we stand and don't fall.

There are wonderful promises in God's Word that assure us that God will keep us from

falling. Just look at some of these:

First of all, God promises that He will never allow us to be tempted by any temptation

that is too strong for us to overcome: "God is faithful, who will not allow you to be

tempted beyond what you are able, but with the temptation will provide the way of

escape also, that you may be able to endure it" (1 Cor. 10:13).

God's Word also says : "He is able to keep you from stumbling, and to make you stand in  $\ensuremath{\mathsf{S}}$ 

the presence of His glory blameless" (Jude 24).

With these and many other wonderful promises given us in God's Word, there is no need

for us to sin any more. Our life can henceforth be lived to do the will of God alone (as it

says in 1 Peter 4:2).

Progressive Sanctification

Jesus told His apostles to teach others to obey all that He had commanded (Matt. 28:20).

One who loves the Lord will first of all seek with all his heart to find out what those

commandments are; and then he will seek to obey them (John 14:21).

Under the Law, God gave man commandments, but not the power to obey them. Why

then did God give the Law? Only in order that man might discover that he's unable to

come up to God's standards, and thus see his need of a Saviour and a Helper. "The Law

has become our tutor to lead us to Christ" (Gal. 3:24).

But now God has made a new covenant with man. And He has given us, not only

commandments, but also an Example in the person of our Lord Jesus Christ. Jesus

demonstrated by His earthly life that it is possible for us to obey all of God's

commandments.

God has also promised under the new covenant to put His Laws into our minds and to

write them upon our hearts (Heb. 8:10). He does this through the Holy Spirit dwelling in

us. The Holy Spirit is our Helper Who not only shows us what the will of God is, but also

gives us a desire to do that will and grace to obey all of it too.

God is the One Who is going to sanctify us entirely (1 Thess. 5:23). We can't do it on our

own. We have to depend on Him - for He is the One Who works in us giving us both the

desire as well as the ability to do His will. But we have to "work out our salvation with

fear and trembling" (Phil. 2:12,13). We have to work out what God works in, for He

hasn't turned us into robots!

God cleanses us from the guilt of sin. But we are commanded to "cleanse ourselves from

all defilement of flesh and spirit, perfecting holiness in the fear of God'' (2 Cor. 7:1). We

have to do this, as and when we get light on any defilement within us. It is thus, as we "by the Spirit, put to death the deeds of the body" (Rom. 8:13) that the

fruit of the Spirit - love, joy, peace, patience, kindness, goodness, faithfulness, gentleness

and self-control - will become more and more manifest in us. This is what it means to be

transformed into the likeness of Christ.

Thus our path will become one of increasing light (Prov. 4:18). This is the glorious way

of sanctification that God has made for us.

CHAPTER EIGHT

GOD'S WORD AND PRAYER

The two things that a new-born baby needs on birth, are food and air. It's exactly the

same with those who experience a spiritual birth. The newborn child of God needs to eat

and to breathe.

God's Word is to be his food, and prayer is to be his vital breath. God's Word - Our Spiritual Food

A child needs milk to start with, but he needs solid food later on. The Bible contains both

milk and solid food. The milk is called "the elementary teaching about the Christ" (Heb.

6:1); and the solid food is called "the word of righteousness" (Heb. 5:13).

How soon we move on to solid food, depends on how quickly we obey any light that  $\operatorname{\mathsf{God}}$ 

gives us.

Our spiritual growth is dependent on faith and obedience.

God has given us promises in His Word so that we can trust Him. He has also given us

commands to obey. If we meditate on God's Word regularly and trust and obey Him we

will find that we are deeply rooted in God, like an evergreen tree that never withers. God

will then be able to bless us in such a way that we prosper in everything we do (Psa.

1:2,3).

We can't understand God's Word by intellectual study alone. We need the revelation of

the Holy Spirit. Jesus said that spiritual truths were hidden from the clever and the

intelligent and revealed to babes (Mt. 11:25).

What do babes have, that clever, intelligent people don't have? A pure heart!

God looks at the heart and not at the head. He gives revelation to those who are humble

and who tremble at His Word (Isa. 66:2).

Jesus said that only those who were willing to do the will of God would understand God's

Word (Jn.7:17).

God's Word - The Sword of the Spirit

God's Word is also the weapon that we use in our warfare against Satan.

It is called "the sword of the Spirit" in Ephesians 6:17.

Jesus Himself used this weapon with great effect, during the last three temptations in the  $\,$ 

wilderness. Each time, he countered Satan's temptations with "It is written..." (Matt.

4:4,7,10).

That's how He overcame; and that's how we can overcome too.

Satan is the Accuser. We must distinguish between his accusations and the conviction of

the Holy Spirit. Satan always seeks to harass us and make us feel condemned by his

accusations. The Holy Spirit's conviction, on the other hand, is always gentle and full of

hope.

We can overcome the Accuser only by "the blood of the Lamb and the word of our

testimony" (Rev. 12:11). His accusations concerning our past sins can be overcome only

as we give him our testimony that the blood of Christ has cleansed us and justified us

thoroughly. We have to use the same weapon that Jesus used : "It is written..."

Confessing God's Word to Satan is the way to overcome not only Satan's accusations, but

also discouragement and anxiety and a host of other temptations with which Satan assails

our mind.

That's why it is important to know God's Word well, so that the Holy Spirit can bring to

our mind the right Scripture at the time of our need.

It is good therefore to have a time every day when we meditate on God's Word asking

Him to speak to us. As we hide God's Word in our heart, it will keep us from sinning

against Him (Psa. 119:11).

God's Plan for our Lives

God has a perfect plan for our lives. And He wants to guide us into fulfilling it. The most

blessed life that we can ever live on earth is one in which we fulfil that plan completely.

In choosing a career or in marriage, how wonderful it is to know that God has already

charted a course for us to take! If we choose His way, we can avoid the many pitfalls that

Satan has lined up for us. It is through His Word primarily, that God guides us into that plan.

Finding the will of God is an exhaustive subject and has been covered more fully in my

book entitled `FINDING GOD'S WILL'.

Approaching marriage in a spiritual way has been covered in another book of mine

entitled `SEX, LOVE & MARRIAGE - The Christian Approach.'

Prayer - Speaking to God

Communication with God is a two-way matter. We hear God speaking to us through His

Word first. And then we speak to Him.

But prayer is not just making requests to God. A primary part of prayer should be having

fellowship with God, like a bride with her bridegroom.

There are no rules on how a bride should speak to her bridegroom.

But as a discipline, it's good for our prayers to consist of: (i) praise to our Father for Who

He is; (ii) confession of sin and failure; (iii) petitions concerning the kingdom of God;

(iv) petitions concerning our own needs; (v) intercession for the needs of others; (vi)

thanksgiving for what God has done; and (vii) thanksgiving for what God will do.

Jesus told us to "pray at all times" (Lk. 18:1).

A good habit to develop is to learn to speak to God about the little things of daily life -

and thus to be in a spirit of prayer throughout the day. Thus, speaking to God will

become a joy for us and not a ritual. We'll also find that God speaks to us in our hearts in

surprising ways.

But these are just the kindergarten-lessons in the school of prayer. We can progress

further if we are faithful.

In any case, prayer should never be allowed to degenerate into a dry, empty ritual. Prayer

is like breathing. When our breathing becomes difficult for us, then we know that

something is wrong! Prayer was never meant by God to be dry or boring. But as we progress, we will find that prayer becomes hard work. If we are faithful with

the little burdens God lays on our heart to pray about, we'll find that God gives us more

and more of His burdens. Thus we can become co-workers with God, in His work of

blessing others.

Jesus prayed `with loud crying and tears' (Heb. 5:7). Once when He prayed in

Gethsemane, His sweat became like great drops of blood (Lk. 22:44). His praying was so

intense.

Once He spent a whole night in prayer (Lk. 6:12). He had a habit of slipping off

frequently into the wilderness to pray (Lk. 5:16). As someone has said "Like tourists look

for sights to see, whenever they come to a new place, Jesus always looked for a quiet

place to pray wherever He went."

Jesus' example shows us how important prayer is. If He needed to pray so much, how

much more you and I need to.

Fight the battle against laziness then, and determine to be a man/woman of prayer at any cost.

CHAPTER NINE

FELLOWSHIP AND THE CHURCH

We have already seen that God wants to transform us into the likeness of Christ. But this

transformation doesn't take place in us in isolation from other disciples of Jesus. It is only

along with them that we are transformed.

God wants us to live, not only in dependence on Him, but in fellowship with one another

as well. In Old Testament times, God worked through individuals - a Moses or an Elijah

or a John the Baptist etc.,

But under the new covenant what God wants is a Body of disciples who have become one

under the headship of Christ. This is what `the church' is - the Body of Christ (Eph.

1:22,23; 2:14-16).

The Church - The Body of Christ

The church is not a building, nor is it a denomination. The English word `church' in the

New Testament is a translation of the Greek word `ekklesia', which means an assembly of

people who are called out - in this case, called out of the world to be God's own

possession.

All over the world, those who have responded to God's call to be separated from sin and

the world, form the church - the Body of Christ. In every locality, these members of

Christ's Body should together become a local expression of that body. The first body of Christ was the physical body in which Jesus came to earth. In that body

God showed Himself to the world. Jesus yielded Himself so perfectly to the Father, that

at the end of His life He could say, "He who has seen Me has seen the Father" (Jn. 14:9).

Now our calling is to represent Jesus together, to the world around us. No one can

represent Jesus adequately, all by himself. We need one another. The best among us are

still imbalanced. We have our strong points, but we have our weak points too. We may be

able to reflect Christ well in one area, but very poorly in another area. But together, we

will find that the strong points of one balance out the weak points of the other. And if we

live in love and submission to one another, Christ can be reflected in  $\mbox{\ensuremath{\mbox{His}}}$  totality through

us, to an unbelieving world. This is God's purpose for the church. Becoming Part Of A Local Church

As soon as you're converted, you need to seek out and join a fellowship of disciples who

are eager to obey God's Word and to follow in Jesus' footsteps.

This is where the new convert can be bewildered by the numerous groups and

denominations that he sees in Christendom. From one end of the doctrinal spectrum to

the other, there are unfortunately, many, many groups that lay claim to be the only true

representatives of Christ on earth!!

Many of these groups would thump their Bibles and prove to you that you cannot be a

part of the Body of Christ unless you join them!

It would be almost impossible to convince most of them that God has many children who

are not in their `group' and who don't hold exactly to their peculiar forms of doctrine!

Such is the power of prejudice! You must be careful that you don't get entangled in this

web of Pharisaism and cultism, that plagues much of Christendom today. Keep your heart open to all who love the Lord and who seek to follow Him in sincerity.

They may not dot their doctrinal `i's or cross their doctrinal `t's in exactly the same way

as you do. But that's not serious, if they're walking in the light that God has given them.

We cannot demand that they should walk in the light that God has given us.

Receiving All Of God's Children

We must have as many brothers and sisters as God has children.

We should wholeheartedly welcome and receive all whom God Himself has received

(Rom. 14:1; 15:7). If Jesus is not ashamed to call someone His brother, we shouldn't be

ashamed either (Heb. 2:11).

There are two extremes to which believers can go, in this matter of fellowship. One is to

compromise truth itself in order to maintain fellowship. The other is to demand

uniformity in all matters before fellowship is offered. If you are wise, you'll steer clear of

both these extremes.

It's obvious that we can't work together with those who are not agreed as to how God's

work is to be done. But we don't have to demand that someone believes exactly as we do,

down to the last little detail, before we have fellowship with him. There is a difference

between working together with someone and having fellowship with him. However, you must look for a church in your locality, that can be a spiritual home for

you, and to which you can be committed.

The New-Testament Church

In the midst of many `churches' in your locality, you should look for one that conforms

most closely to the New Testament, as you have understood it thus far. As time goes on,

and you understand more of the New Testament, you may feel that you have to leave that

'church' and join another which is more in line with God's Word. That will only be natural for one who is growing spiritually and who is determined to

press on to God's highest and best for His life. Never settle for anything less than God's

best in every area - and then you won't have any regrets in eternity. A New Testament church will not have any denominational label. It is a fellowship of

people who have been gathered by the Holy Spirit into the Name of Jesus Christ. The

Lord has promised to be present only in the midst of such a gathering (Matt. 18:20).

The church that you become a part of, should be one that accepts the Bible as God's

Word and as the ONLY foundation for faith and life. Many cultistic groups, though

claiming to accept the Bible alone as their authority, are often found quoting the writings

of their leaders with equal authority. As you get close to them you'll find that they are

more bound to the teachings of their leaders than to God's Word. There may be many

good things in them. But if you join them, you will soon find that their cultistic attitudes

enslave you.

In God's church, all believers are equally priests of God - for God has made us all priests

(1 Pet. 2:9). A `church' that has a special class of priests or `pastors', who alone are

considered qualified to minister the Word, is contrary to the will of God.

God has ordained the leadership of the church to be in the hands of elders (always more

than one). But these elders need not be `full-time workers' (Acts 14:23; Tit. 1:5).

In the meetings of a New Testament church, the main emphasis will be on preaching

God's Word. All believers will have freedom in such a church to share God's Word

according to their maturity and their spiritual gift.

If the Word spoken is truly inspired by the Holy Spirit, you'll find that it comforts and

challenges and builds up and exposes `the secrets of men's hearts' compelling those who  $\,$ 

hear to acknowledge that God is speaking (1Cor. 14:3, 24-31).

The main thrust of a truly New Testament church will be to make disciples and to teach

them total obedience to Jesus' commandments (Matt. 28:19,20). The distinguishing

feature of such a church will be mutual love between its members - as Jesus stated in

John 13:35, "By this all men will know that you are my disciples, if you have love for

one another."

Such a church where the Word is spoken powerfully, and where the love of God reigns

and where the presence of the Lord can be sensed, is the church that you should be a part

of, in your locality.

The Importance of Fellowship

It's when we try to live together in loving fellowship with others that we'll find how much

we need to deny ourselves and take up the cross every day, if we want to maintain

fellowship.

Satan is always busy driving wedges between God's children. If we are mature we'll

always be alert to prevent those wedges from being driven in between us and others.

There is great loss when fellowship is broken in Christ's Body - both to God as well as to

There is tremendous power in unity in the church. Satan can be overcome only by a

united church. Jesus said "If even two believers are totally one in their spirits, completely

united, they can ask the Father for anything and their request will be granted - because I

am present in power, wherever any two or three such united souls are gathered together

by the Holy Spirit. And such a fellowship of believers can bind Satanic forces in the

heavenlies and on earth and thus restrain Satan's power. They can also release people

from Satan's bondage through their prayers " (Matt. 18:18-20 - free paraphrase).

That's why Satan brings division between believers and that's why he forms cliques and

groups in a church. He wants to preserve his own kingdom from being attacked by a

united church. We must be alert to Satan's schemes and not be ignorant of them.

Just think what limitation there would have been in Christ's physical body if his limbs

had been unable to work together. He would not then have been able to manifest the

glory of God to this world as He did. This is the limitation that Christ faces today as Head

of His spiritual Body, the church, when believers are divided.

We lose too. If you cut yourself off from even one of God's children, you deprive

yourself of something of God's riches that could have come to you only through that

other child of God. We can know the love of Christ only along "with all the saints" (Eph.

3:17-19).

(For a further in-depth study of the importance of Christian fellowship, you could read

my book entitled, ONE BODY IN CHRIST.)

CHAPTER TEN

THE END OF THIS AGE

There was no clear understanding in Old Testament times about life after death and about

God's plan for the future. But Jesus taught very clearly about both these matters. It's good  $\,$ 

for us to know about these matters too.

After Death What?

Death has no terror for a disciple of Christ, for Jesus has conquered death. Death is a

defeated enemy. Jesus died and made Satan powerless thereby so that we need no longer

have any fear of death (Heb. 2:14,15). The keys of death are now in the hand of Jesus

(Rev. 1:18). Only He can open the door of death for any of His disciples now. Satan can't

touch them.

What happens when a man dies? Jesus answered this question clearly when He spoke

about the rich man and Lazarus. It would be good if you read Luke 16:19-31 right now,

before proceeding any further.....

This is not a parable - for in no parable did Jesus ever use a man's name as he did here.

Both the rich man and Lazarus were real people.

Jesus made it clear here that there are only two places to which the dead go. One is

Heaven (also called `Abraham's bosom' or `Paradise') - a place of comfort; and the other

is Hell - a place of torture and suffering. As soon as a person dies, his soul goes

immediately to one of these places, even before his body is buried on earth. And even

though he doesn't have a body, yet he will be conscious of his surroundings and of

comfort or pain.

Man is a threefold being, consisting of spirit, soul and body (1 Thess. 5:23). At death the

soul and spirit are separated from the body, and go either to paradise or to hell.

While on the cross, Jesus told the repentant thief that he would be with Him in paradise

that very day. Both Jesus and that thief went to paradise as soon as their souls left their

bodies. Jesus had said that after His death, He would be in `the heart of the earth' for 3

days and 3 nights (Matt. 12:40). From this we know that paradise, at that time, must have

been in the heart of the earth. But when Christ was resurrected "from the lower parts of

the earth... and ascended on high. He led captive a host of captives" (Eph. 4:8,9). He

took paradise and all the souls in it up to the third heaven.

In 2 Corinthians 12, when we compare verses 2 and 4 together, we see that paradise is

now located in the third heaven. This is where the disciple of Jesus goes as soon as he

dies (Phil. 1:23).

The Signs of Christ's Coming

The Bible tells us of a number of events that would take place immediately before

Christ's return to earth. Here are some of them:

(1) Wars, famines and earthquakes (Matt. 24:7). These have been there on earth at all

times. But there has been a great increase in their number since the Second World War (1939-1945).

(2) A sudden spurt of knowledge and a vast increase in worldwide travel (Dan. 12:4).

Both of these have also been seen in a far greater measure during the last fifty years than ever before.

(3) Men will be lovers of pleasure (2 Tim. 3:4). Immorality is a specially evil

characteristic of our times. Pornographic movies and video-tapes have all served Satan's

purposes in promoting immorality.

(4) Men will be arrogant, revilers and disobedient to parents (2 Tim. 3:2-4). Today we see

the spirit of rebellion all around us - in homes, in schools, in colleges and in factories.

(5) Believers will fall away from the faith (1 Timothy 4:1). We see this too in our day,

with the wide proliferation of many cults, to which many believers are falling a prey.

(6) The rebirth of the nation of Israel (the fig tree - a symbol of Israel - putting forth its

leaves - Lk. 21:29-32). Ever since A.D.70, the Jews had been scattered around the world.

This fig tree lay withered for nearly 19 centuries thereafter. But in May 1948, the nation

of Israel was born once again. Jesus said that Jerusalem would be occupied by non-

Jewish nations until the times of those nations are fulfilled (Lk. 21:24). In June 1967,

Israel occupied the city of Jerusalem, for the first time in 20 centuries.

It is exciting to see what is happening in the world today. The signs are all pointing to the

coming of Christ very soon.

The First Resurrection and the Judgment Seat of Christ

When Christ comes, all who belong to Him will be transformed in the twinkling of an

eye. We will receive new bodies that can never age or die (1 Cor. 15:51-53). Our new

bodies will be just like the body that Jesus Himself had after His resurrection (Phil.

3:20,21). Those who died in Christ will also arise from their graves in their new bodies

and along with the living disciples of Jesus at that time, will rise into the air to meet the

Lord (1 Thess. 4:13-17).

Then Christ will set up His judgment seat, at which we will be judged (assessed) and

rewarded individually for our faithfulness in our earthly lives.

The Bible speaks of crowns being awarded in that day for those who have been faithful.

You could read 2 Corinthians 5:10; 1 Corinthians 3:11-15 and 4:5; 2 Timothy 4:8 and 1

Peter 5:4 for more details of the rewards that will be given by the Lord to His disciples at

that time.

In that day, we will see that "many who are first will be last and the last, first " (Matt.

19:30). Many who appeared to us to be very spiritual on earth, will then be seen as not

having been so faithful in God's eyes. Others whom we may not have thought too highly

of, will then be seen as having been faithful in God's eyes. In that day, the unknown but

faithful widow will take precedence over the world-famous but unfaithful preacher.

In that day, we will discover that many things such as money and fame, that men

considered valuable on earth have no value before God; and that many virtues that men

did not value, such as purity, humility, unselfishness, mercy and goodness are valued

greatly by God.

Then will take place what the Bible calls `the marriage of the Lamb of  $\operatorname{God}'$  - the spiritual

marriage of Jesus Christ with His Bride - the ones who were faithful in denying

themselves and taking up the cross daily and following  $\mathop{\rm Him}\nolimits$  as  $\mathop{\rm His}\nolimits$  disciples on earth

(Rev. 19:8-10). In that day we will see that it was worth it all to have suffered

misunderstanding, shame, persecution and even death itself for the sake of our Lord and

His gospel.

The Millennium

A reign of peace will then begin for 1000 years, when Garden of Eden conditions will

prevail on the earth, with the lion lying down peacefully with the lamb and the child

playing with the harmless cobra etc., (Isa. 11:6-9).

Jesus will then reign from Jerusalem as King over the whole earth (Zechariah 14:9-21).

Satan will be bound during those years so that he has no access to earth as he has now. At

the end of those 1000 years, Satan will be released for a short period to test the

unconverted inhabitants of earth once more. Again a great multitude will follow after

Satan. This will be God's demonstration to angels and men that these people do not want

Christ to reign over them, even after they have seen the 1000 years of peace. Such is

man's blindness and stubbornness and wickedness. But God will come down in judgment

on that rebellious multitude; and Satan will be cast into the lake of fire (which is just a

larger version of hell - Rev. 20:7-10).

The Second Resurrection and the Final Judgment

God will then set up His judgment seat to judge all unbelievers. This will be the second

resurrection. The dead will be raised from their graves. The souls of all unbelievers will

return from hell into their earthly bodies to stand before God to be judged. They will then

be judged "from the things which were written in the books, according to their deeds"

(Rev. 20:12).

Memory is like a video-tape that faithfully records everything that we have thought, said

and done and also our attitudes and motives throughout our earthly life. God will in that

day play back this tape for the whole world to see the hidden lives of everyone. This will

be God's way of showing that He is perfectly righteous in sending people into eternal

judgment.

Those whose names are not found in the book of life will be cast into the lake of fire to

join Satan whom they served on earth (Rev. 20:15).

The End of Time

Then time will cease and eternity will begin. Redeemed men and women will enter into

the new heaven and the new earth and the bride of Christ will then shine forth in all her

glory (as described in Revelation 21).

Satan and all unbelievers will have been removed from that perfect heaven and earth. In

that glorious new universe, sin will never raise its ugly head any more and there won't be

any lusts in our flesh. Heaven will be filled with people who have joyfully chosen the

will of God for all eternity.

The Call to Overcome

Peter says, "Since all these things (the existing heavens and earth) are to be destroyed,

what sort of people ought you to be in holy conduct and godliness" (2 Pet. 3:11,12).

The message of the Spirit in these last days, can be summed up in one word :

"OVERCOME " (See Rev.2:7, 11, 17, 26; 3:5, 12,21; 21:7).

We began this book by emphasising the missing element in much of today's preaching to

unbelievers - REPENT.

We conclude this book by emphasising the missing element in much of today's preaching

to believers - OVERCOME.

The call of God to man, ever since he fell into sin has been to be an overcomer. God told

Cain, "Sin is crouching at your (heart's) door...but you must master it" (Gen.4:7). In the

last book of the Bible that call is repeated, "He who overcomes shall inherit these things

and I will be his God and he will be My son" (Rev. 21:7).

Nothing on earth can be compared with the glory of a life lived in fellowship with God

and in the fulfillment of His purposes. The life that Jesus lived on earth was the most

wonderful, the most glorious and the happiest life that any man ever lived. He wasn't

world-famous or rich. But He radiated the glory of God through His life.

The good news of the gospel is that you can radiate that glory too. You can be an

overcomer all the days of your earthly life. May you be faithful then and live with  $% \left( 1\right) =\left( 1\right) +\left( 1\right)$ 

eternity's values in view at all times. Amen.